NO. 69950-4-I

	IN THE COUR	DIVISION ONE	ON		
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		2		
		STATE OF WASHINGTON,	(		
REC JUN 17 King County Appells	'D	Respondent,			
11N 12	2013	V.			
King County	Prosecutor ate Unit	MAURICE THROWER,			
Y Append		Appellant.			
	ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY				
		The Honorable Barbara Linde, Judge			

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

DAVID B. KOCH Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

# **

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Defense counsel was ineffective for opening the door to otherwise inadmissible and highly prejudicial evidence.
- The limiting instruction addressing the evidence was incomplete and insufficient.

### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Appellant was charged with molesting his girlfriend's daughter. Prior to trial, defense counsel was informed that another young girl also had alleged improper sexual contact, but the State had no intention of eliciting this evidence at appellant's trial. Despite being forewarned about this evidence, defense counsel opened the door to its admission during trial. Did this deny appellant his constitutional right to effective representation?
- 2. Defense counsel attempted to mitigate the harm he caused with a limiting instruction informing jurors of the limited purpose for which the evidence had been permitted. The instruction failed, however, to state that jurors could not use the evidence to show appellant had a particular character (child molester) and acted in conformity with that character. Assuming a proper instruction could have sufficiently mitigated the harm from counsel's serious mistake, did the trial court err when it used a deficient instruction?

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Pretrial Proceedings

The King County Prosecutor's Office charged Maurice Thrower with two counts of child molestation in the first degree, alleging that he had improper contact with his girlfriend's daughter, T.W., sometime during the period from October 18, 2004 to October 17, 2007 (a period spanning T.W.'s eighth and eleventh birthdays). CP 1-6.

One of the State's expected witnesses at trial was Carissa Astle, who was three years older than T.W. and babysat T.W. during a portion of the charged period. RP 241-249, 355-359. One subject the State had no intention of exploring with Astle was Astle's own claim that Thrower also had inappropriate sexual contact with her. The State recognized this incident – which did not involve T.W. – "was too far afield." RP 382-383.

Defense counsel had full notice of the allegation, and Astle had been specifically instructed by the prosecutor not to mention it. RP 388-389. Unfortunately, as discussed later in this brief, defense counsel made a serious mistake while questioning Astle, opening the door to this damaging evidence. RP 386-399.

A jury convicted Thrower on both charges. CP 64-65. The Honorable Barbara Linde imposed concurrent indeterminate

sentences of 180 months to life, and Thrower timely filed his Notice of Appeal. CP 70, 81-94.

#### 2. Trial Evidence

Maurice Thrower and Jennifer Wells began dating in 2005. RP 76, 456-457. Wells lived in Northgate with her daughter, T.W. (who was eight years old at the time), and T.W.'s younger brother. RP 78-79, 88. Thrower kept some of his personal belongings at the home and sometimes stayed the night. RP 80-81. Everyone got along well and T.W. did not seem to have any issues with Thrower, whom she called "Moe." RP 82-83.

Within about 6 months of meeting Thrower, Wells and her children moved to the Burke-Gilman Place Apartments off Sand Point Way. RP 78, 84-85, 354. As before, Thrower kept personal belongings at the home. He also began staying the night more frequently and helped around the apartment and with the children. RP 84-85. Wells worked during the day and hired a babysitter – Carissa Astle – to watch the children. RP 85-86. Wells had Thrower come by the apartment to check in on Astle and the children. RP 121-122.

Wells and Thrower parted ways in 2007. RP 463. During the last six months of their relationship, it was apparent T.W. no longer liked Thrower. She would snap at him and was generally

disrespectful towards him. RP 86-87. During this same period, Wells' and Thrower's relationship had also deteriorated – they were not getting along and there was infidelity. RP 122-126. There also may have been violence. RP 144, 152. T.W. was 10 years old when the relationship ended. RP 88. She was glad to have Wells "all to herself." RP 90, 126. But Wells and Thrower remained in touch and, in fact, planned to reunite some day, a plan T.W. knew about. RP 89-90, 139.

When T.W. was 12 years old, Wells caught her "sexting" nude photographs of herself to a boy. Wells was very upset with T.W. and began screaming at her. RP 96-97. T.W. had never seen her mother so angry. RP 133. She took away T.W.'s phone and grounded her. RP 266. Wells asked T.W. why she was acting out and if anyone was touching her. RP 266-267. For the first time, T.W. claimed that Thrower had molested her. RP 97-98, 147-148, 266-267. Wells was shocked. RP 98. She shared the allegation with some others whom she knew and called the prosecutor's office for advice. RP 99-101, 105-106. Ultimately, however, because T.W. did not want her mother to contact police, she did not. RP 101-102.

In fact, no report was made until January 2012. RP 106, 180-181. By that time, it had been years since T.W. had seen Thrower, but T.W. learned that Thrower had returned to the area and others had been encouraging T.W. to let her mother call the police. RP 270-273.

At trial, T.W. testified that, while the family still lived in the Northshore home, Thrower began coming into her bed at night. RP 214. Wearing boxer shorts, he would get under the covers and lie down behind her. RP 214-217. He would place his hands on her sides, hip, or stomach, and she could feel that he had an erection. RP 218-219, 236. She testified she did not tell anyone at the time because she believed she might get in trouble. RP 221-222.

According to T.W., similar behavior continued at Burke-Gilman Place, although it did not occur in her bedroom. Instead, it occurred in a downstairs room with couches and a television. On weekends, T.W. sometimes slept there. RP 223, 225-229, 237-240. On one occasion, she fell asleep on the floor next to her two younger cousins. RP 226-227, 234-235. According to T.W., she woke up to find Thrower's hand on her breast. She pulled away, and Thrower left. RP 223, 235-237. On a subsequent occasion, T.W. awoke on the couch to find Thrower's hand down her pants and touching her thigh. She told him to get off of her, and he never again attempted to touch her. RP 251-253.

The defense impeached T.W. by focusing on many inconsistencies in her versions of events depending on when and to

whom she was speaking. RP 289-308, 313-317, 331-340. Although T.W. claimed the touching would happen at night when she was going to bed or already asleep, Wells testified she never found Thrower engaged in suspicious activities at night. RP 81-82, 90-93, 215, 220-221.

T.W. testified she did not tell anyone she had been abused even after Thrower moved away because she was afraid he might come back. RP 240-241. At some point, when she was perhaps 12, T.W. did tell her friend, T.L., that she had been molested, and T.L. encouraged her to tell her mother. RP 263-264, 278-279, 283-284. T.W. denied making up the story about abuse to avoid being punished for sexting. RP 268. She knew her mother and Thrower were in contact at the time, but testified this was not a factor, either. RP 263-264.

T.W. also testified that once she disclosed, she did not feel the need to report the abuse to police so long as Thrower was out of their lives. RP 268-269. She changed her mind, however, after she learned Thrower was back in the area and had attempted contact with one of her mother's best friends – Shannon Williams, who has younger children. RP 141, 151, 272. Williams knew about T.W.'s allegations years before, had encouraged her at that time to report the matter to police, and now was very upset and angry about the

new contact with her family. RP 136-137, 147-149, 151. After Williams expressed her strong displeasure to Wells, Wells once again encouraged T.W. to let her contact police, and T.W. finally agreed. RP 136-138, 271-272.

The parties stipulated that Thrower was out of the community – and therefore could not have engaged in the charged acts – prior to February 16, 2005, and also between June 16 and June 30, 2005. RP 455. Moreover, there was an approximately 5-month period in 2006, during which the father of Wells' son was staying with Wells in the Burke-Gilman Place apartments, when Thrower was not staying in the apartment at all. RP 116-121.

At no time did the detective assigned to investigate T.W.'s allegations even attempt to speak with Thrower prior to forwarding the case to prosecutors for the filing of charges. RP 195-200. Thrower took the stand in his own defense, and denied all of T.W.'s allegations of inappropriate sexual contact. RP 463.

#### Defense Counsel Opens The Door

Former babysitter Carissa Astle's purpose on the stand was to describe an occasion where she saw Thrower's penis. According to Astle, when she was twelve and T.W. was nine, the two were playing in T.W.'s bedroom at the Burke-Gilman Place apartments when the door opened and Thrower walked in with his semi-erect

penis poking out the fly of his jeans. RP 359-363. He asked the girls the sit on the bed, spoke to them (she could not recall the topic), indicated they could continue playing, and left the room. RP 361, 364. Astle believes Thrower's penis is uncircumcised, although she cannot be certain. RP 375. Nor can she be certain that Thrower even knew they could see his penis. RP 377. When he entered the room, he was walking in a hunched position. RP 362. Moreover, his penis was no longer visible by the time the girls sat on the bed. RP 375.

On direct examination, the prosecutor inquired why Astle had not told anyone about this incident, and Astle responded that she had been scared. RP 364-366. On cross-examination, defense counsel followed up on this line of questioning:

- Q: You were the babysitter?
- A: Yes.
- Q: And didn't do anything about this alleged incident at the time?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In fact, Thrower is circumcised. RP 463.

T.W. also testified to this event, although her memory did not precisely match Astle's. According to T.W., Thrower entered the room with his erection exposed and asked the girls if they wanted to play house with him. Astle immediately left. T.W. and Thrower went downstairs, where Thrower – still exposed – closed the blinds and continued to ask about playing house. T.W. then also left the house. RP 258-260.

A: No.

Q: You say you were scared, has Mr. Thrower ever threatened you?

A: No.

Q: Has he ever done anything to make you fear him, physical, other than your allegations around this?

RP 378.

At this point, Astle did not provide an audible response. She shook her head up and down (indicating Thrower had done something physical to cause her fear), began to shake, and began to cry. RP 378-379, 385, 387. Defense counsel returned to a prior question, asking Astle whether Thrower had ever threatened her, to which she again answered "no." RP 379. Defense counsel then moved on. RP 379.

At the next break, the prosecutor pointed out that defense counsel had just opened the door to the other, unrelated incident involving Astle that the State had not previously intended to use. RP 382-386, 388. Judge Linde agreed. RP 387-388, 391.

On redirect, the prosecutor asked Astle whether Thrower had done something to make her fearful of him. She answered "yes" and then provided details. RP 393. According to Astle, a couple of days after seeing Thrower's penis, she was at Wells' apartment doing laundry in the kitchen. RP 393. T.W. was outside playing. RP 394.

Thrower picked her up and carried her to the living room, where he kissed her on the forehead. RP 394-395. Thrower told Astle they were going upstairs and that it was okay. RP 395. He then carried her upstairs to the master bedroom and placed her on the bed, where he kissed her on the neck and chest. Astle was crying, and Thrower stopped. Before leaving the room, he told her they would keep the incident just to themselves. RP 395-397.

In an attempt to mitigate the damage from this evidence, defense counsel drafted a limiting instruction, which provides:

Certain evidence has been admitted in this case for only a limited purpose. This evidence consists of the testimony of Carissa Astle with regards to the allegation concerning the Defendant picking her up, carrying her, and kissing her and may be considered only for the purpose of determining whether she had reason to fear the Defendant. You may not consider it for any other purpose. Any discussion of the evidence during your deliberations must be consistent with this limitation.

CP 54; RP 440.

#### C. ARGUMENT

DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR OPENING THE DOOR TO HIGHLY DAMAGING EVIDENCE AND THE LIMITING INSTRUCTION DID NOT CURE THE RESULTING PREJUDICE.

Both the federal and state constitutions guarantee the right to effective representation. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. 1, § 22. A defendant is denied this right when his or her attorney's

conduct "(1) falls below a minimum objective standard of reasonable attorney conduct, and (2) there is a probability that the outcome would be different but for the attorney's conduct." State v. Benn, 120 Wn.2d 631, 663, 845 P.2d 289 (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 944 (1993). Both requirements are met here.

. . . . .

Defense counsel was well aware of Astle's claim, which amounted to another allegation of child molestation against a different victim. See RCW 9A.44.086(1) ("A person is guilty of child molestation in the second degree when the person has . . . sexual contact with another who is at least twelve years old but less than fourteen years old and not married to the perpetrator and the perpetrator is at least thirty-six months older than the victim."). No competent attorney would have opened the door to this evidence. Allowing the prosecutor to use this information against Thrower clearly was not tactical. Counsel performed deficiently.

Moreover, the resulting prejudice was significant. ER 404(b) specifically provides, "[e]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show conformity therewith." And the prejudice from bad acts evidence is at its highest in sex abuse cases because, as the Washington Supreme Court has recognized, "Once the accused has been

characterized as a person of abnormal bent, driven by biological inclination, it seems relatively easy to arrive at the conclusion that he must be guilty, he could not help but be otherwise." State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 363, 655 P.2d 697 (1982) (citation omitted).

. . . . .

There is more than a reasonable likelihood this evidence affected the outcome at trial. The evidence concerning Astle portrayed Thrower as a serial pedophile, taking advantage of opportunities for sexual contact with minor girls in Wells' home. In the absence of this evidence, Thrower had an opportunity for acquittal: no one had witnessed the alleged touchings involving T.W., there was no physical evidence of abuse, T.W. waited a long time to allege abuse and even longer to report it to law enforcement, and Thrower never made any incriminating statements. At trial, he denied any inappropriate contact.

The parties agreed that the jury's verdicts would turn on credibility – whether jurors believed T.W.'s claims of sexual contact. RP 525-527, 545-546, 556, 569-570. Jurors were far more likely to believe T.W. once they heard Astle claim that she, too, had been a victim of Thrower's sexual contact. Astle's otherwise inadmissible evidence contributed to the ultimate verdict.

In response, the State will surely seek to rely on the defenseproposed limiting instruction aimed at Astle's testimony. But there is some evidence that is not susceptible to such a limitation because it is just too influential to ignore. This is certainly true with *curative* instructions. Although it is generally presumed juries follow instructions to disregard evidence, this Court has recognized that "no instruction can 'remove the prejudicial impression created [by evidence that] is inherently prejudicial and of such a nature as to likely impress itself upon the minds of the jurors." State v. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. 251, 255, 742 P.2d 190 (1987) (quoting State v. Miles, 73 Wn.2d 67, 71, 436 P.2d 198 (1968)); see also State v. Copeland, 130 Wn.2d 244, 284, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996) (in context of prosecutorial misconduct); State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 508, 755 P.2d 174 (1988) (same).

. . . .

There is no reason to treat *limiting* instructions differently. It may be safe to presume juries generally follow instructions limiting consideration of evidence to a particular purpose. See State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 864, 889 P.2d 487 (1995); State v. Dent, 123 Wn.2d 467, 486, 869 P.2d 392 (1994). But there is some evidence, so inherently prejudicial, that it is unreasonable to assume jurors will be able to ignore that it establishes a propensity to commit a certain class of crime (here, molestation) and only consider the evidence for a narrow and less damaging purpose.

Moreover, even if a limiting instruction could have sufficed at Thrower's trial, the instruction used fell short. Where a limiting instruction is requested, it must be correct. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 424, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). "An adequate ER 404 (b) limiting instruction must, at a minimum, inform the jury of the purpose for which the evidence is admitted and that the evidence may not be used for the purpose of concluding that the defendant has a particular character and has acted in conformity with that character." Id. at 423-424. The instruction in this case never informed Thrower's jury that Astle's testimony could not be used to establish his character and actions in conformity with that character.

The absence of a sufficient limiting instruction requires a new trial if, within reasonable probabilities, it materially affected the outcome at trial. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d at 425 (citing State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 780, 725 P.2d 951 (1986)). For the reasons already discussed – the absence of eyewitnesses, physical evidence or a confession, and Thrower's denials – Astle's additional claim of molestation materially affected the outcome at Thrower's trial. The incomplete limiting instruction could not change that.

#### D. CONCLUSION

;;··

Thrower was denied his right to effective representation when his attorney opened the door to damaging evidence that was otherwise inadmissible. To the extent a limiting instruction could sufficiently mitigate admission of this evidence, the trial court erred when it failed to ensure an adequate instruction was used. Thrower's convictions should be reversed and he should receive a new trial.