69950-4

69950-4

NO. 69950-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

MAURICE THROWER,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE BARBARA LINDE

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

TOMÁS A. GAHAN Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

C. ARGUMENT

 THROWER'S ATTORNEY WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE WHEN HE "OPENED THE DOOR" TO THE KISSING INCIDENT BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE WAS NOT UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL.

Thrower contends that his attorney was ineffective because he "opened the door" to C.A.'s testimony regarding the kissing incident with Thrower that began in the kitchen. But Thrower was not unfairly prejudiced by the testimony, so the attorney's performance was not ineffective.

A criminal defendant who claims ineffective assistance of counsel must show that the attorney's performance was so deficient that it "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness" and that the attorney's deficient performance unfairly prejudiced the defendant. State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 344-45, 150 P.3d 59 (2006). Courts grant a "strong presumption of reasonableness to counsel's performance," and appellants must show that the deficient performance was so serious as to deprive a defendant of

a fair trial. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984).

Under ER 404(b), evidence of other bad acts is generally inadmissible, but may be admissible for purposes other than showing "action in conformity therewith," such as "proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident where the evidence is more probative than prejudicial." ER 404(b); State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 18-19, 74 P.3d 119 (2003). In order to admit evidence of "other bad acts" under ER 404(b), the proponent of the evidence must first convince a trial court by a preponderance of the evidence that the "misconduct" actually occurred. State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 853, 864, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). If the court determines that the misconduct occurred, the court then must identify the purpose for which the evidence is offered, determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the offense, and weigh the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. Lough, 125 Wn.2d at 853. The court may then admit the evidence, subject to a limiting instruction telling the jury the proper uses of the evidence. Id. at 864.

The cross examination conducted by Thrower's attorney that opened the door to the kissing incident with C.A. assisted the attorney in defending Thrower. The thrust of Thrower's defense at trial was to attack the credibility of T.W. and C.A., the only eyewitnesses against Thrower. His attorney contrasted the testimony of T.W. and C.A. with their other interviews in order to point out inconsistencies, supporting his stated theory that "children lie" and that both eyewitnesses were "lying" in order to keep Thrower out of T.W.'s life (supposedly, the allegations would prevent Wells from ever reconciling with Thrower). RP 548-54. During his closing argument, Thrower's counsel noted the witnesses' lack of "eye contact" and expressly commented on C.A.'s tears during his cross examination:

And [C.A.]'s crying up there? Now the State wants you to believe that's because she was scared of Mr. Thrower, even though her own testimony was, hey even with that incident, he never threatened me. He just picked me up. And that's if you even believe that incident happened. No, she was crying not because she was scared of Mr. Thrower. She was crying because she got caught lying. She got caught with inconsistencies and she got caught with the same inconsistencies that T.W. did.

RP 545-55 (emphasis added).

While the defense attorney's cross examination of C.A. did open the door to the admission of the kissing and touching incident with C.A., it also provoked the response that the attorney later used to attack C.A.'s credibility so aggressively in his closing argument. Even though Thrower's attorney objected to the admission of the kissing incident, he reaped every reward from C.A.'s hesitation and the emotional reaction his cross examination prompted; even the trial judge mentioned that it could have appeared to the jury that C.A. had been "caught in a lie," and she was sniffling and "shaking." RP 388. To offer an alternative explanation for C.A.'s response on the stand, the court permitted the testimony regarding the kissing incident, but as the defense attorney's statements during his closing argument made clear, the contention that C.A.'s tears and emotional breakdown were simply the result of her being "caught in a lie" remained a real possibility for Thrower to argue to the jury.

This was especially true because it was not until after the parties had taken a break that C.A. provided the details of the prior incident from the witness stand as an explanation for her emotive response on the stand. RP 381-92. The jury had already seen her struggle to answer the attorney's questions and, when the State said that it could not hear C.A.'s response to these questions, the

defense attorney stated, "She hasn't given one." RP 378. Had the jury accepted Thrower's defense that "children lie" in the first place, C.A.'s initial breakdown on the stand and her silent response to his questions would have been further proof of her mendacity, regardless of her later explanation.

If Thrower had not "opened the door" to the kissing incident, it is unlikely that C.A. would have provided anything like the sniffling, shaking, and silence she revealed on the stand, and the defense attorney's argument would have been far less compelling. Because the questions that "opened the door" are the same ones that provided fodder for the defense attorney's argument against C.A.'s credibility, it can hardly be convincingly argued that the result of those questions was unfairly prejudicial to Thrower.

Thrower also argues that, but for C.A.'s testimony regarding the kissing incident, "Thrower had an opportunity for acquittal" because "no one had witnessed the alleged touchings involving T.W." Brief of Appellant at 12. But, as the trial judge suggested, C.A.'s description of the incident added hardly any additional prejudice to the testimony already elicited, and it is unlikely that the evidence of the kissing incident had any impact on the jury's verdict. RP 391.

While C.A. and T.W. were the only eyewitnesses to Thrower's crimes, the State also presented substantial circumstantial evidence that included Wells' testimony about Thrower being missing from the bedroom in the middle of the night, and several witnesses' testimony regarding the sudden change in T.W.'s relationship with Thrower after the abuse began. RP 86, 92-93, 98. The jury also heard about T.W.'s acting out sexually at the early age of 12, and her consistent report of the abuse to a friend. RP 141-49, 275-79. But perhaps the most compelling piece of evidence other than the testimony from T.W. and C.A. was Thrower's own testimony, which described in detail and unsolicited testimony T.W.'s bedroom, her actual bed, and how much it "squeaked." RP 476-78. How Thrower, who also testified that he was not T.W.'s caretaker and played no role in her morning and evening routines, would know so much about her bed (or why he was so eager to tell the jury about it), was left for the jury to assess. RP 476-78, 492. Thrower's argument that it was C.A.'s description of the kissing incident that someway swayed a jury considering acquittal against him, fails to consider the strength of the remaining evidence.

Thrower contends that the kissing incident served to portray "Thrower as a serial pedophile, taking advantage of opportunities for sexual contact with minor girls in Wells' home." Brief of Appellant at 12. But Thrower's abuse of C.A. on that occasion was not as shocking as the other uncharged act of misconduct, admitted at trial and unchallenged on appeal, where Thrower exposed his penis to both T.W. and C.A. Following an ER 404(b) hearing, the trial court found that the exposure was "proper evidence to have before the jury," and permitted C.A. and T.W. to describe to the jury how Thrower entered the room, erect penis exposed, and asked the two girls if they wanted to play with him. RP 248. This incident, which scandalized both girls, was already admitted when Thrower cross-examined C.A. RP 248.

After the defense attorney "opened the door," the trial court conducted an ER 404(b) analysis in determining the admissibility of the kissing incident, and found that the incident was not unfairly prejudicial, as it was not a "rape" and was "another very similar incident" that served to clarify C.A.'s response on the stand.

RP 391. The jury had previously heard from C.A. that Thrower had exposed his penis to two underage girls, C.A. and T.W.; this already provided an example of Thrower's behavior toward young

girls aside from the charged incidents. RP 258-60, 361. It is unlikely that C.A.'s testimony regarding being kissed and hugged by Thrower on one other occasion created more prejudice than the already-submitted testimony.

Further, the only evidence of the kissing incident was C.A.'s account at trial – Thrower's defense from the start was that C.A. and T.W. were liars. RP 548. If the jury ever accepted this argument, it would have just as easily applied to C.A.'s uncorroborated testimony regarding the kissing incident. One more uncorroborated story from C.A. did nothing to refute Thrower's argument that C.A. and T.W. had made the whole thing up. On the other hand, if the jury believed in Thrower's guilt after hearing the testimony, one more uncorroborated story from C.A. would also have done little to alter or bolster that belief. C.A.'s testimony about Thrower kissing and touching her a couple of days after he exposed his penis was only helpful insofar as it offered an alternative explanation for her tears on the stand, and perhaps provided an insight into why C.A. never reported the incident.

Thrower contends that the evidence of the kissing incident was so prejudicial that no jury instruction could have cured it. But the few cases that address incurable admissions of evidence deal

with extreme circumstances, not at all commensurate with the testimony elicited here. In <u>State v. Escalona</u>, 49 Wn. App. 251, 253, 742 P.2d 190 (1987), the case relied upon by Thrower, the stabbing victim in an assault case testified, sua sponte, that the defendant had a criminal record and had "already stabbed someone" before. <u>Id.</u> at 253. The trial judge merely instructed the jury to "disregard" the victim's statement, and denied a motion for a mistrial; although the evidence against the defendant was minimal, the jury convicted. <u>Id.</u>

On appeal, this Court stated that "there is no question" that the evidence of the prior stabbing incident was "inherently prejudicial," and while "logically relevant" was not "legally relevant." Id. at 255-56. Because it would be "extremely difficult, if not impossible" in a "close case" like that one for the "jury to ignore this seemingly relevant fact," this Court reversed the conviction. Id. at 256-57.

The facts here are not similar to <u>Escalona</u>. First, as

Thrower's trial judge noted, the testimony by C.A. regarding the kissing incident was not especially prejudicial – it was not a "rape," and was in fact tamer than the other evidence already elicited from the very same witness. RP 391. Further, the testimony, even

without the "open door" granted by cross examination, was relevant to the case in chief. After all, admission of the evidence would have been appropriate even prior to cross examination, and it was, in all likelihood, only the prosecutor's cautious decision that the kissing incident was too "far afield" to seek its admission that spared the evidence from being admitted in the first place. RP 382. Because the kissing incident provided a reasonable explanation for C.A.'s failure to report the indecent exposure (which was admitted), and served to rebut the material assertion by defense that C.A.'s demeanor on the stand was a symptom of a lying child, it could easily have been admitted at trial from the start.²

Unlike the evidence of a prior stabbing in <u>Escalona</u>, which had no bearing on the charged case, C.A.'s testimony was both legally and logically relevant, and therefore not unfairly prejudicial.

² Numerous cases have held that prior misconduct evidence is admissible to rebut a material assertion of a party, regardless of whether the evidence fits within one of the traditional categories such as motive, intent, or identity. See, e.g., State v. Wilson, 60 Wn. App. 887, 808 P.2d 754, rev. denied, 117 Wn.2d 1010 (1991) (in prosecution for statutory rape and indecent liberties, evidence of prior assaults on same victim was admissible to show the reason for the victim's fear and the delay in reporting the offenses); State v. Longuskie, 59 Wn. App. 838, 801 P.2d 1004 (1990) (in prosecution for kidnapping and child molestation, evidence of defendant's sexual abuse of a different child, although inherently prejudicial, was admissible to rebut defendant's contention that sexual dysfunction prevented his arousal); State v. Thompson, 47 Wn. App. 1, 11, 733 P.2d 584, review denied, 108 Wn.2d 1014 (1987) (in manslaughter prosecution, evidence of defendant's prior assaultive behavior toward third parties was admissible to contradict claim of self-defense); State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 904 P.2d 245 (1995) (prior conviction relevant to rebut claim that killing was not premeditated).

Further, the trial court here did not merely tell the jury to "disregard the evidence," which might have indeed required "mental gymnastics," but instead directed jurors on precisely how to use the evidence appropriately. CP 54.

C.A.'s testimony regarding the kissing incident was not unfairly prejudicial and therefore defense counsel's opening of the proverbial door was not ineffective assistance of counsel. This Court should affirm Thrower's convictions.

 EVEN IF C.A.'S TESTIMONY WAS PREJUDICIAL, THE PREJUDICE WAS CURED BY THE LIMITING INSTRUCTION SUBMITTED BY THROWER'S ATTORNEY.

Thrower also argues that his attorney was ineffective because his limiting instruction to the jury did not explicitly prohibit jurors from using the evidence to show Thrower's "character (child molester) and [that he] acted in conformity with that character." Brief of Appellant at 1. But the instruction told jurors that they were permitted to use the evidence only to determine whether C.A. had any reason to fear Thrower, and that they may not consider it for "any other purpose." CP 54 (emphasis added). The instruction, therefore, prohibited jurors from considering the evidence to show

Thrower's character (and any other improper considerations), and properly cured any harm Thrower's attorney created by "opening the door" to the evidence.

When a court admits evidence of prior acts under ER 404(b), the defendant is entitled to a limiting instruction that tells the jury for what purpose it may properly consider the evidence of prior misconduct. State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007). An adequate limiting instruction must inform the jury of the purpose for which the evidence is admitted and that the evidence may not be used for any other reason. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 424, 269 P.3d 207 (2012).

The limiting instruction here was crafted by defense counsel. RP 440-41. It was not modified by the court, nor objected to by the State. RP 440-41. The instruction barred the jury from using the evidence for any purpose other than the one stated explicitly: to determine whether or not C.A. was afraid of Thrower. The strong language of the instruction prohibited the jury from considering the evidence to show conformity with Thrower's character because it prohibited the jury from using it to show anything other than C.A.'s fear. CP 54. The purpose and limitation of the evidence was expressed in *four* different ways in the instruction, highlighted here:

Certain evidence has been admitted in this case for [1] only a limited purpose. This evidence consists of the testimony of [C.A.] with regards to the allegation concerning the Defendant picking her up, carrying her, and kissing her and may be considered by you [2] only for the purpose of determining whether she had reason to fear the Defendant.
[3] You may not consider it for any other purpose. Any discussion of the evidence during your deliberations [4] must be consistent with this limitation.

CP 54 (emphasis added). The limits of this evidence were further highlighted by the State in its closing: "Now that evidence came in only for a very limited purpose, about what Mr. Thrower did to [C.A.], and that goes to [C.A.]'s fear of the defendant and explains her demeanor on the stand." RP 539 (emphasis added). Because jurors are presumed to read and follow their instructions, this Court should presume the jurors here followed the clear language of this instruction, and did not require further language explicitly warning them not to consider it for propensity purposes. State v. Willis, 67 Wn.2d 681, 687, 409 P.2d 669 (1966).

Thrower cites <u>State v. Gresham</u> as support for his argument that an ER 404(b) limiting instruction must explicitly state that the prior misconduct cannot be used as propensity evidence: "An adequate ER 404(b) limiting instruction must, at a minimum, inform the jury of the purpose for which the evidence is admitted

., .

and that the evidence may not be used for the purpose of concluding that the defendant has a particular character and has acted in conformity with that character." 173 Wn.2d at 423-24; Brief of Appellant at 14. In <u>Gresham</u>, defendant Scherner was charged with sexually molesting his granddaughter and the court admitted evidence that the defendant had molested four other girls, in a similar manner, to show a "common scheme or plan" under ER 404(b). The trial court ruled that the prior sexual offenses "exhibited such markedly similar conduct that it was 'abundantly clear that they show ...an overarching plan." <u>Id.</u> at 422. On appeal, the Washington Supreme Court held that the trial court should have given a limiting instruction clarifying that the offenses were not to be used as propensity evidence (but found that the error was harmless). <u>Id.</u> at 424.

Evidence admitted to show a "common scheme or plan," like the prior misconduct in <u>Gresham</u>, reflects directly on the defendant and whether or not he committed the charged crime; the <u>Gresham</u> court's insistence on differentiating the use of the evidence to show a "common plan" but not to show propensity, makes sense in that context. The distinction between a defendant's "plan," to do something similar to what he had done before, and the likelihood

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